HISTORY OF CAMDEN, OHIO 1803-1955

RUTH B. NEFF

History of Camden, Chio 1803 - 1955

A Thesis

Submitted to the Faculty of Miami University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Arts

By
Ruth B. Neff
Liami University
Oxford, Chic
1955

Approved by:

977.122 N 3833 W

ACCORDENS

I wish to acknowledge and express my appreciation to all those people who have given their encouragement and assistance in aiding me in my extensive research for the writing of the History of Camden, 1803-1955. Also, I desire to express appreciation to a few individuals who have been particularly helpful in this endeavor. This thesis would not have been attempted at all, but for the kindly words of encouragement of Dean William Smith who also helped to select the topic which has proved most interesting. I am especially indebted to Dr. F. B. Joyner for his suggestions and continued guidance through the completion of the work.

To the Preble County News I also wish to address my thanks for its generosity and unrestricted use of its files which furnished much of the material. To hiss Helle Jones I should like to pay special tribute for her suggestions, and especially for some material which was obtainable from no other source. Lastly, I should like to thank my husband, Harry E. Heff, for his interest and cooperation in accompanying me on my various trips to obtain this data.

If my work will help the reader to a fuller and more comprehensive view of, and a greater respect for our community and its people and achievements, I shall feel in a large measure repaid for my efforts.

THERE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF		1000
GMM		*****
4 🛴	PIONEERS AND THEIR DESCREENANTS, 1803-1955	1
	THE VILLAGE AND ITS DEVELOPMENT, 1818-1955	
	CARDEN'S PARTICIPATION IN POLITICS AND NATIONAL AFFAIRS, 1040-1955	
IV.	THE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT OF CAMPER, 1803-1955 I	
	CULTURAL INFLUENCES—CHURCHES, LONGES, CLUBS, 1817-1955	
. 71.	CAMEDIEN SCHOOLS, 1818-1955	
	MEVER-TO-RE FORGOTTEN DAYS IN CARDER, 1891-1955 22	
The same of the	RIBLICORPANT	54
	* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *	

LIST OF LILLSTRATIONS

discussion	Figure		Page
10.4.0W. (c)	1.	Map of Dover, 1818	
	2*	E. J. Phares's Spring Amountoment, 1905	142
	3.	Success Clothing, M. L. Poters, 1904	145
	l.	Clothlers, Collett and Son, 1905	144
	5.	Douglas, The Shoe Man, 1900	146
	6.	The Lembert, 1909	150
	**	Buggies, Phaetone, Carriages, Bunabouts, 1905	152

CHAPTER I

PICNEERS AND THEIR DESCRIDANTS, 1803-1955

Seven Hile Creek at the intersection of U. S. Route 127 and State Route 725. It is located in a valley which once was covered with a mighty forest that afforded protection and an abundance of game to the tribes of Indians who rouned this region. The town is especially attractive as one enters from the north on to a street lined on both sides with wide spreading shade trees that form an arch overhead. Several of the modern, home-like looking dwellings one sees are the homes of descendants of the early pioneers who settled in this territory more than a hundred years ago. The beauty of the region, together with the rich, productive soil, attracted many settlers both from the South and the East to clear land and build homes. These pioneers were men who were tireless in energy, courageous, far-seeing, uncomplaining, willing to undergo hardships and dangers, and their wives were fit companions of these hardy men.

The first settlers to arrive was the David E. Hendricks family in 1803 and settled upon the site of what is now Camden. David Hendricks was born in 1765 in New Jersey. His father, a wealthy shipper, was a British sympathizer during the Revolutionary War. After the Battle of Trenton, since the patriots' cause was looking much brighter, many Tories, including David's father, sought safety in Canada. David, although just a boy, refused to follow his father in his flight to Canada. He stayed

with an uncle in New Jersey and remained true to the cause of the revolutionists. At the close of the war David found himself penniless because his father's large estate had been confiscated by the colonial government, and his patrictic uncle had spent his money in the cause of the colonies. Being of an adventurous nature David Hendricks decided to go West. He desired to have a part in quelling the evil feeling in the West which had resulted from the action of British emissaries keeping alive among the Indians the hatred which had grown out of the war. Young Hendricks made his way to Pittsburgh where he became acquainted with Lewis Wetzel, the famous Indian fighter. He then went down the Chio to the settlement of Marietta in 1788 where he met Generals—McMahon and Josiah Harmar.

David Hendricks served as a soldier in the campaigns of General Arthur St. Clair and General Anthony Wayne against the Indians. Both generals and their men made many trips through the territory from Fort Hamilton at Hamilton, Chio to Fort Jefferson which was about six miles south of what is now Greenville, Onio. If they did not always travel through what is now Camden they were on trails not far to the east or the west of the village site. U. S. Boute 127, which is the Main Street of Camden, is now marked with signs which bear the name "Anthony Dayne Parkway." A road just east of Camden has long been called Old Trace Boad or Tayne's Trace.

Conclusive evidence that General Wayne and his men traveled east of town was discovered by a group of workmen in 1905 who were engaged in grading Wayne's Trace. On this road between West Elkton and Somerville

History of Proble County, Chio (Cleveland, Chio: H. S. Williams and Dro., 1881), pp. Williams

the road bed. The corduror was about a quarter of a mile long. The timbers were of Solidebaandtuned Herry Were lightly preserved. They were laid diagonally June 1, 1905.

after the manager derrobrichy provehents is also that the part Derrotters of the American Revolution Society (Raton, Chio, 1945), p. the part of an old bay operations serviced was evidently built over a swamp to enable the army to get its transport through. The bayonet probably belonged to General Wayne or his soldiers.

General St. Clair and his army, in going northward from Fort Hamilton in 1791 to the disastrous battle field at Fort Recovery, followed the Seven Mile Creek. The Indians called this stream "Metatamanee" which means pebbly bottom. The white men called it St. Clair Creek after the General. But in 1793 when General Wayne marched into the Indian country he crossed the stream and went up the east side. He cut a new trail because many of his men were superstitious, and he didn't want to take them over St. Clair's disastrous trail. General Wayne had crossed the stream just seven miles north of Fort Hamilton so he used the name Seven Mile Creek on his military map. The name St. Clair Creek was soon forgotten and replaced by the name of Seven Mile.

David Hendricks was one of the most fearless of General Wayne's scouts. While stationed at Fort Greenville in 1793 General Wayne desired to send an important dispatch to Fort Washington which was seventy-five miles away. Hendricks volunteered his services even though he knew the

² Proble County News (Proble County News Office, Carden, Chio), June 1, 1903.

³ Grace Carrol Runyan, Historical Facts on Proble County and Daughters of the American Revolution Society (Raton, Chio, 1945), p. 44.

4 B. L. Morgan, Directory of Proble County, Chio For 1875 (Eaton, Chio, 1875), p. 47.

country was full of hostile Indians and the chances of being captured overbalanced those of getting safely through. Day was just breaking as the young soldier left the fort and before the sun had gone down he had arrived at Fort Washington and delivered the important message.

It was during these campaigns with Generals St. Clair and Wayne that Hendricks discovered the beauty and fertility of the land around what is now Canden. He "found a land as fertile and as fair as heart could wish. The long, cool sisles of the forest led away into mases of vernal green, where the swift deer bounded by unmolested and as yet unscared by the sound of the woodman's ame or sharp ring of the rifle. All about were displayed the lavish bounties of nature. The air was fragrant with the thousand odors of the woods in early spring. Underneath the giant oaks and sugar trees, the low-branched beeches, the walnuts and the chestnuts, and the sycamores, the ground was jeweled with strange and brilliant flowers."

After the Treaty of Greenville, David Hendricks returned to Fort Hamilton. The next year, September 16, 1796, he married Roseanne Stockhouse. He lived in the vicinity of Hamilton until the land along the Seven Mile Creek, where Camien new stands, was surveyed and put on the market for sale. Immediately he bought three quarter sections, including the eastern part of the present town site of Camien. In 1803 he and his family moved to his newly acquired lands. Two years later on October 3, 1805, his son, George D. Hendricks, was born on the site that later became known as North Liberty Street in Camien. This was the first white male child to be born in Proble County.

⁵ History of Proble County, op. cit., p. 142.

⁶ Thid., p. 113.
7 Camden Cazette (Proble County News Office, Camden, Chio), May 31, 1900.
8 Morgan, op. cit., p. 19.

The Hendricks family left their form at Comden in 1806 and moved to Eaton. Young Hendricks' life was filled with varied experiences. He was a soldier under General Sam Houston and with Colonel Sidney Johnson in the war between Texas and Mexico. After he returned to Eaton he served in the Ohio Legislature, was County Auditor, County Sheriff, Saton Postmaster, and also devoted many years to school teaching. Colonel George D. Hendricks lived a long, active, and useful life. His death occurred at his home in Eaton on May 24, 1900 at the age of minety-five after an extended illness. 9

The name of Hendricks is still heard and seen every day in Camdon but not as a family name. One of the main east and west streets bears the name Hendricks. This is a reminder to the citizens that the Hendricks family was the first to settle on the site of what is now Camben, and their son, George, was the first white male child to be born in Freble Country

Soon after the Hendricks came to this territory the Pottengers arrived in the township from Kentucky, having emigrated there from Maryland. 10 John and Robert Pottenger located in section ten, near the site of what later was Canden, and a brother Dennis, located in section two. 11 Then the Pottengers settled here the land was little more than a howling wilderness. 12

> When the Pottengers moved into this part of the country, welves, deer, opposume, foxes, and otter abounded in great numbers, as many as eleven otter were killed in one night.

⁹ Camien Gasette, op. cit., May 31, 1900. 10 Doid., April 22, 1897.

History of Proble County, op. cit., p. 229. Camben Gazette, op. cit., April 22, 1897.

Deer were so take that after cutting down a hackberry tree, while the men would be working on the body, the deer would be brousing on the top. Mr. John Fottenger remarked, They were as plenty as cattle are now.' A vegetable product called ramp grew upon bottom lands. Deer would collect in numbers and feed upon it. 13

The Pottengers became recognized as the most influential, most wealthy, and largest land owners in Somers Township. They engaged in agriculture, in raising, buying and shipping livestock, in pork packing, in merchandising, and in milling. July John also was a manufacturer of gun powder. This knowledge was of great help to him and to the men of the community. Cun powder was in great demand because with it their daily meat was obtained which sometimes constituted more than helf of the living for themselves and their families. 15

John Pottenger had a large family—eleven children. His first wife was Jane Gilney and his second Catherine Railsback. 16 His eleven children were Thomas, William, John, Dennis, James, Rauben, Wilson, Ann, Elizabeth, Nancy, and Cynthia. 17 In 1833 Thomas, the oldest son, married Eliza Robbins. Before they were married Thomas bought a farm and built a house which was far in advance of the other pioneers because it was brick. When it was completed it was one of the most comfortable homes in the country at that

¹³ Morgan, op. cit., p. 191.

¹⁴ Camien Gazette, op. cit., April 22, 1897.

D Vorgan, op. cit., p. 191.

¹⁶ History of Preble County, op. cit., p. 299.

^{17 &}quot;Record of Hills - C" (Probate Judge's Office, Court House, Daton, Onio), p. 164.

time. Thomas and Eliza were also the parents of a large family—eleven children. One of their sens, Cyrus, who was born near Canden on August 31, 1837, became a well known business man in the village. After serving three years in the 51th Ohio Infantry he returned to Camlen and became a dry goods merchant. He sold out to C. E. Morlatt in 1877 and moved to Hamilton. Later he moved to Cincinnati where on Movember 17, 1915 he died. 19

The sixth son of John Pottenger, Reuben, born August 16, 1818, was recred and died in the community of his nativity. He married Susannah fanley in February, 1842 and they raised a family of eight children, three girls and five boys. Reuben became one of the foremost business men of the town. He and his brother, Thomas, operated a dry goods store from 1863 until 1873 when it went into the hands of Cyrus Pottenger. "Uncle Reuben", as he was often called, lived a life of usefulness and thrift. When he died in Camden on December 23, 1896 he was seventy-eight years old. 20

The youngest son of John Pottenger, Wilson, who was born December 13, 1820, had very meager facilities for obtaining an education in his boyhood. He, with his elder brothers and classmates, secured the essential rudiments of reading, writing, spelling, geography, and arithmetic. He especially excelled in the latter subject which laid the foundation for his mechanical operations. After he was out of school he gave much praise to George D. Hendricks from whom he learned more and faster than from any

¹⁸ Gyrus Pottenger's Dry Goods Store was located in the building now occupied by Canden Hardware.

¹⁹ Preble County News, op. cit., November 25, 1915.

²⁰ Canden Carette, op. cit., December 24, 1896.

inequal control with an event align and particle of a large tailly --- large. and derectly from the contract of the contract August 31, 1999, became a well known in siness nes to the villego. Then servine three years in the fifth tributing he returned to Carrier and commo a interpresenta menchanting all a crack crack to 0. I. (brillatta in 1877 and eaved to describe a large of the rest was bundlessed when a love fet 12. This Q. Loth or

Commence of the first court of the commence of designation of the specifiest will be optimizated and but both bein become apprecia-Cassanti Finley in depress, liking and they reason a family of cigar facespark of the sor sessed well at a section in a after somet exemplish basineas segment fire terms. It test hit benthers Thoses, operated a day goods anamentical mengi le piccal acid acid time di massi Cill Illiano Cèli most ambio wincle dembent, so he was often edited, lived a life of teachiness and driving the state of the state

Erratum

Dean Pottenger is not a direct descendent of John Pottenger. Dean's father, George Pottenger, was a brother of Clark Pierson. George ran away from home when very little and Dan Pottenger found him in the woods and took the little boy home with him. When George's father came for him, George refused to get off of Dan Pottenger's lap and his father said if her wanted to stay that much Mr. Pottenger could have him. Mr. Pottenger adopted him" Information from Anna Homsher White, Aug. 15, 1956.

> the machemical operations, Alter he was out of school he gave and passes to decree il. Herdriche from when he learned were and feether t an irve and

Page 8

¹⁸ Gystas Pottestreet's lay Goods Store was located in the building . Guratima i maiossi i nd insimuon ven Preble County News, oc. all., November 25, 1915. 20 Dander Jametro. Co. Cit., December 72, 1896.

teacher. We was married February 18, 1847 to Ellen M. Reis, daughter of Thomas and Elizabeth Reis of Riley, Chio. They had three sons and one daughter. Wilson died on April 15, 1897 at his residence close to the old mill which he one time owned and operated. 21

Robert Pottenger, the brother of John, married Panny Gee in Kentucky. They had a large family, seven children, all of whom in 1825 moved to Indiana. Dennis, the other brother of John, married Sarah Gray of Kentucky, and after her death married Elizabeth Lowden of Butler County. Dennis had five children. 32 John, a son of Elizabeth and Dennis, was born September 3, 1825 in Camden. He lived in the village until he was mineteen years old. After he left Camden he went to Warsaw, Indiana where he established the first drug store in that town. He died at his home in Hismatha, Kansas. 23

It is quite evident why in the middle of the nimeteenth contury historians said that the Pottenger family had a larger representation in the locality than that of any other of the pioneers. The name Pottenger is still familiar and well remembered in Camden although only a few people still bear that name. Dean Pottenger, a direct descendant of John Pottenger, resides on Egrth Main Street in Camden. He is the director of a well known and popular dance band. 2l

Another one of the earliest families to settle in the Camben vicinity was the Newtons who came about the same time as the Pottengers. The Newtons now probably have more descendants than any pioneer family around Camben. Their reunion has long been regarded as one of the largest

²¹ Camien Gamette, op. cit., April 22, 1897.

²² History of Preble County, op. cit., p. 299. 23 Preble County News, op. cit., August 20, 1903.

Dean Pottenger is the grandson of Daniel Pottenger. Deniel was the brother of Oyrus Pottenger. Both men were sons of Thomas, the oldest son of John Pottenger.

in the county. Thomas Newton came from England to America in 1775 at the age of twelve. After he settled in the Camden community he married a widow and they had two children, Isaac and Asa Newton. Asa Newton was bern December 9, 1811. On October 29, 1833 he married Lydia Cook whose home was just east of Somerville. They made their home a few miles southwest of Camden on the farm now known as the Walter Steele farm.

The Newtons were the parents of ten children, five boys and five girls. Five of these children still have many descendants around Camden.

Incy Newton, the oldest daughter of Lydia and Asa, married James Craig. George Craig, a local hardware dealer, is a grandson of this couple. Mary Jame Newton, the second daughter, married Joseph Craig, brother of James, her brother—in—law. This couple were the grandparents of August (Auggie) Craig, one time mayor of Camden, and Ernest Patterson, a well known local citizen. After the death of Joseph Craig, Mary Jame Newton Craig became the wife of Samuel Morrow. Isasc, Emma, Asa, James and Lucy were their children. Asa, a retired farmer and now eighty—six, resides in Camden. The Asa Morrow descendants alone are more than forty.

Robert Newton was the sixth child of Asa and Lydia. When Robert was six years old his father took him across the fields to see the first train that came through the country. The lad became so frightened at the smorting monster that he started running and didn't stop until he reached the safety of his home. Robert may not have liked the train but the Newton family found it a real asset as a source for ready cash. They cut wood from their farm and hauled it along the railroad tracks. Here the train stopped and picked up the fuel.²⁵

²⁵ The farm on which the Newton wood was stacked is now known as the Follmer farm.

Then Robert Newton became grown he married Malinda Jones. Their descendants around Camden are numerous, too, as they were the parents of six children. Elliott, the oldest child, now a retired farmer and age eighty-three, married Katie Hoover. Dessie Coon, one of their three children, has been one of Camden's elementary teachers for twenty years. James, another son of Robert, married Emma Somers and they had one son, Orville, who is well known in the county. Lydia, one of Robert's daughters, died at the age of three. Another daughter, Mary, married David Mann. Any, a twin daughter, died at three months. Sadie, the other twin, married Edward Thompson and their family of six are all married and living not far from Camden.

Elliott Decker. They were the parents of Ella who married Frank Austin. The resided on the old homestead until her death as did her daughter, Ella. Ella Austin's great-grandson still resides with their father, Walter Stocle, on the home place where Asa Newton raised his family. This is the sixth generation that has resided on this fam without interruption.

Martha, the youngest daughter of Lydia and Asa, married Riley Goodwin. This couple had six children all of whom married and left several descendants. The ancestors of Thomas Newtonaround Camien are The Newtons, the Horrows, the Craigs, the Pattersons, the Hanns, the Thompsons, the Goodwins, and the Austins. It is quite evident why the Newton Reunion is one of the largest in Proble County.²⁷

²⁶ Ella Austin's daughter married Page Wilson. Ella Wilson died young and Mrs. Austin raised her children. One of the daughters, Bessie Wilson, married Walter Steele. Bessie Steele died in 1952, on the farm of her ancestors.

²⁷ Bessie Coon, "History of the Newton Family" (Bessie Coon, Canden, Chio).

Another early pioneer was Job Hale who came to the Chio Country to join General St. Clair in the fight against the Indians. Hale was killed in 1792 at Fort St. Clair in a battle with the natives. He was returning to Hamilton from Fort Recovery after he and other soldiers had delivered horses to the men farther north. His wife, Hannah, had followed him from Kentucky on horseback with their two small children but stopped near Hamilton, at Fear Not Mill, to wait for Job's return. After her husband's death, the widow remarried in Hamilton but one of the Hale's daughters, Elizabeth, settled in Somers Township in 1832 after she married Peter Titsworth. 28

After more than a hundred years the Titsworths have three direct descendants living in Camden. Hannah, the daughter of Flizabeth and Peter Titsworth, on December 2, 1845, married James Francis Morlatt.

Morlatt had come with his parents in 1830 to Somers Township from Warren County, Chio. The young Morlatts lived on a farm near Camden until 1865 at which time they left, moved to the village, and resided there their lifetime. James Morlatt was a member of both branches of Odd Fellows. At the time of his death in 1894 he was the eldest living member of Western Star Lodge, No. 109. James and Hannah had seven children, two of whom died in infancy, but four daughters and one son lived to maturity. 29 A daughter, Ida, married Ernest Meeks from Richmond, Indiama. Another daughter, Helena, on December 21, 1869 married Albert Klopp. 30

²⁸ This information came from Well Jones, S. Main Street, Camdon, Chio. Miss Jones is a direct descendant of the Titsworths.

²⁹ Damien Gazette, op. cit., August 2, 1894. 30 Proble County News, op. cit., July 7, 1904.

Two of the Mopp callings, Marie Mopp America and Clay Mopp, are still living in Canden. Clay lives on Lafayette Street and has retired because of very poor eyesight. Marie, who is eighty-five years of age, lives alone on Central Avenue in the old Explatt homestead, the home where James and Hannah seved into in 1865, when they came to Gazden. The third Morlatt daughter, Jonnio, never married. The son, Charles E. Morlatt, was one of the most influential business won of the town. He was a school teacher, merchant, grain dealer, and banker. His first wife was Hary Heldersen. and after her death he servied Gora Storzenbach. He left no descendents. The fourth daughter, Lillie Marlatt, narried Dr. Charles Jones, a young physician of Camlen. The Jones' youngest daughter, Hell Jones, returned to Cambon in 1950 after having retired from her position in the library of Congress at Easideraten. D. G. 31 Mass Jones now Mives on South Main Street in that once was known as the Charles Morlett property. If the Halos and Titeworths were as fine in character as one of their descendants, Well Jones, the community was much better for their having come.

especially the Carclinas. A number of these were people who objected so seriously to slavery that they moved out because they could not live at peace with themselves in the clave states. "There shall be neither slavery nor involuntary servitade in the said territory." No doubt, this part of Article VI of the Ordinance of the Northwest Territory, and, too, the stories of the fine farming and hunting region along the Seven tille Greek prompted many families of the South to leave their states, where the soil was wern

³¹ This information case from an interview with Well Jones, Gamden, Chio, on October 21, 1954.

³² Joseph T. Ferguson, Additor of State, A Chart Michary of Chio Land Grants (1994), p. 15.

out and produced little, and came to Chio. Several families from North and South Carolina came to Camden and its vicinity.

James Moore, a Revolutionary war patriot, came from North Carolina in 1804 and settled in Somers Township on section nine, the site of Camden. Mr. Moore is still remembered in town because it was he, in 1818, who helped to lay out the town.33

A little later, 1805, Isaac Sutton, another of the founders of Canden, settled on the southwest quarter of section 10 in Somers Township. This also was on the site of Canden. Isaac Sutton must have been the true ploneer with a desire for always seeking the new because in 1826 he and his family moved on West to Indiana. 34

John Wright, born in Troland in 1788, emigrated to America when quite young. He came to Preble County from South Carolina in 1807 and settled in section thirty-one of Somers Township where in 1854 he died. Deing a Covenanter 15, his conscience probably would not let him remain in a state where human beings were bought and sold like cattle. His wife, Margaret Cook, was born in Virginia and came to Chic in a very early day. They had five children, four sons and one daughter. 36

A native of South Carolina, John K. Steele, in 1810 settled in section seventeen of Somers Township about three miles southwest of the site of Camden. John Steele and his wife, Martha Milson Steele, had a family of eight children. One of the sons, Samuel, has a descendant on the farm which for many years was known as the "Home-Grown Fruit Farm"

Grace Carroll Buyan, Proble County Pioneers, In Covington Collection, Mari University, Orford, Ohio, (Faton, Ohio, 1939), p. 18.

³⁴ History of Preble County, op. cit., p. 300.
35 A Covenanter was one who bound himself to establish and maintain the Presbyterian doctrine as the sole religion of the country.
36 History of Preble County, op. cit., p. 300.

which reised mainly peaches, pluns, and apples. Samuel married Martha Mays in 1840 and they also had eight children. Joseph, one of the sons of Samuel and Martha, married Mary Jane Smith, and they had six children. 37 Joseph and his family worked hard in the orchards which made the name "Steele" synonomous with fruit growing. One visitor to Joe Steele's orchard in 1896 spoke of it as "a sight which could not be described." There were over twelve-hundred plum trees of which more than four hundred were heavily loaded with fruit. The Steeles satisficated a yield of no less than five hundred bushels. 38 Steeles were advertising in 1903 "large Magra plums—a crop of two hundred bushels—; a good crop of Prince Engleberts; and in a few days Lombards would be ripe at the Home Grown Fruit Farm. "39 Joseph and Mary Jane Steele still have grandchildren living in the vicinity of Camden. A grandson now lives on the old fruit farm, but no longer is the farm producing fruit for market but it is just used for general farming.

John H. Pennett, born in Maysville, Kentucky, November 27, 1815, was the fourth child of a family of eleven children. He came to Proble County with his father, John Dennett, in 1818 when he was only three years old. During his boyhood much of the land of the county was still in a primitive condition. Large tracts of forest land were uncleared and the houses of ploneers were widely scattered. When his family arrived in Proble County there were no wagon roads. They found the way through the forest by the aid of blaced trees. Their nearest neighbor was eight miles away and Camden had only three log houses. Boars were found, deer were plentiful, and a few of the Aboriginals were still left. The Indians were

³⁷ R. E. Lowry, <u>Fistory of Preble County</u>, Onio (Indianapolis, Indiana: B. L. Bowen and Company, Inc., 1915), pp. 645-641.

38 Camben <u>Gasette</u>, op. cit., July 16, 1896.

³⁹ Proble County News, op. cit., July 30, 1903.

mightly visitors at his father's fireside. Oiled paper was used in place of glass and puncheon floors were in the log houses where corn meal was part of the every-day diet. 10 John H. Dennett, on August 16, 1810, married Eliza Macy of Preble County, daughter of Stephen and Mary Gardner Macy. August sixteenth was a memorable date in the life of Eliza Bonnett. She was born August 16, 1826; married August 16, 1810; buried August 16, 1903; and lost a son on the same date. 11 John H. Dennett died in Camden on September 17, 1903 at the age of eighty-nine. 142

John H. and Eliza Bennett had five children, four sons and one daughter. 13 Several of their descendants still live in Camben. Two sons, Dr. T. N. Bennett and W. G. Bennett who left Camben when they were very young, spent most of their lives in Indianapolis. A daughter, Mary, married W. G. Vilson. Later Mary became the wife of James M. Barnet. Mary and James's son, E. O. Barnet, was secretary of the Camben Loan and Building Association for many years until his death in 1947. E. O. Barnet was also a well known tennis player and was active in the sport until he was past seventy years of age. Mr. E. O. Barnet's second wife, Mrs. Georgianna Patteson Barnet, a teacher in the West Elkton School, now makes her home in Camben. William, E. O. Barnet's only son, is Camben's Tater Worke Supervisor. He and his family are active citizens in church and community affairs. Rush Bennett, the youngest son of Eliza and John Pennett, married Anna Payne. They had three children, two sons and a

Lio Preble County News, op. cit., September 24, 1903.

^{1010.} August 20, 1903. 12 <u>Tbid.</u> September 24, 1903.

¹³ Inid., August 20, 1903. 11 Inid., April 29, 1915.

Caughter. Jessie Bennett Roberts, the daughter, has spent her entire life in Camben. She has been one of Camben's most active business women since she first opened a millinery shop in 1913 in the front part of her house. Her business has grown until now she owns and operates two stores; a shop with girls' and ladies' ready-to-wear and enother store with dry goods and notions. 45

Another Southerner, Louis Loop, case in 1823 from Augusta County, Virginia to Chio. He settled on section thirteen of Somers Township. His wife was Nancy Wilson. They had seven children: Lavina, Susannah, Wilson, Eliza, Julia, Robert, and Anderson. Anderson served in an Onic regiment during the War of the Rebellion.

Daniel Lamm, born in North Carolina in 1808, came to Chic in 1831 and settled on a farm in Somers Township. Daniel and his wife, Keriah Elliott Lamm, had three children: Bethena, Denjamin, and Daniel. 17

Benjamin and his descendants are the "Lamms" that grew up and became well known around Camlen. Denjamin was born October 23, 1832. He was married twice; first to Mary Stowe who was the mother of his three sons, and later to Julia A.Loop, daughter of Louis Loop. Benjamin lived east of Conden on a farm from 1863 until August 10, 1899, the date of his death. He was closely affiliated with the Methodist Church by being a steward and a class losder. 18 Denjamin's son, Wilbur, lived east of Camden until he moved to Camden where he operated a small machine shop on South Main Street in the building now owned by the American Logion. One of his specialities was

Roberts, Camaden, Chio, on May 2, 1953.

History of Freble County, op. cit., p. 301.

LB Camion Casette, op. Cit., August 10, 1899.

repairing, renting, and selling bicycles. None of the Milbur Lamm descendants are now living in Camden, but all of the older residents can remember Mr. Lamm's children, especially Chester who never missed a religious service at the Methodist Church whiless sickness prevented him from attending.

A region that was rich in soil, plentiful in wild game, and also prohibited slavery was very attractive to people who were finding it hard to she out an existence on the worn out Piedmont farms, and at the same time finding it difficult to reconcile themselves to the injustices of slavery that were all around them. The settlers from the Carolinas and other Southern states found such an enticing region in or near the site of Camden.

From the Last came many settlers. A number of events took place which attracted people from the eastern states to the Chio country. The United States bought the Louisiana Territory in 1803. This purchase was of great benefit to the pioneers of Chio in that it gave them an opportunity to market farm products, especially heavy freight, by water. The freight was at first carried mostly by types of flatboots. A little later boats were built which could be propelled against the stream, such as the keelboats and larger with sails. Hen the barges were first introduced, they gave rise to high hopes for the future because they brought freight from New Orleans to Cincinnati for five or six cents a pound, which was much cheaper than shipment from the East by way of Pittsburgh. This was quite an inducement for people to come Vest where they not only could raise plenty

⁴⁹ William T. Utter, The Frontier State, 1803-1825, Carl Wittke, (ed.) The History of the State of Ohio, 6 Vols. (Columbus, Ohio: Ohio State Archaeological and Misterical Society, 1911), II, 173-185.

of crops, but had access by water to markets for their products. An event occurred in 1811 which opened a new era for the pioneers. This was the launching of the first steamboat on the Chio River. The New Orleans 50, which was built purposely for the trip, on September 27, 1811, started at Pittsburgh with New Orleans as her destination. She reached New Orleans in good time and showed the people that their difficulties in getting their grains and meats to market, and then return from the same market with manufactured goods from the East, was about to disappear. 51 Now with the coming of the steamboat, traveling was easier and opportunities were greater.

After the War of 1812, from the eastern seaboard states came a great western movement. So much of the American commerce was destroyed that many of the businesses in the seaboard states were so affected that people were cut of work and in debt. Homes and business places were sold for what they could get, and people started West. Some of the soldiers who had some from the East to participate in the conflict remained within Onio to become farmers after having been discharged in 1815 in Chillicothe. Other soldiers returned to their homes in the East to urge friends and relatives to join them in making an exodus to the western country. Within the next few years whole sections of the East became infected with the "Chio fever."

Even though the steamboat opened a new era, the prosperity of Chio was not noticeably changed until the opening of the canals. Not much

⁵⁰ The boat was sometimes referred to as the Orleans.

⁵¹ Utter, op. cit., p. 173. 52 Utter, op. cit., p. 119.

manufactured goods from the last reached the Chio Valley by stemboat because the roundabout water trip via New Orleans proved too expensive for all but the bulkdest items. Weither did the steambout solve all the section's marketing problems. Despite all of the efforts of the inventors, the bulk of navigation on the Mississippi's tributaries was still confined to the highwater periods.53 Ethan Allen Brown, in his first inaugural address of December, 1818, diagnosed Chio's most critical ailments as one of transportation. Paronn was convinced that Chio's problem could be remainded by the construction of Canals connecting Lake brie and the Chic River. The canal question in Ohio received attention after 1818 but it was not until February 4, 1825 that a law was enacted providing for "the Internal Improvement of the State of Chic by Navigable Canals."54 Governor Selitt Clinton of New York, who had supervised the building of the Eric Canal, lifted the first spoonful of earth at Licking Summit near Newark. The canal in Ohio which affected Camadon most was the Portsmouth and Frie Canal which ran through Dayton commecting it with Cincinnati. In 1829 this canal became a reality. During the first year of the canal's operation as many as seventy freight and passenger boats came to Dayton monthly. Exports included 27,121 barrels of flour, 7,378 barrels of whiskey, and 3,429 berrols of pork. For thirty years the canal was the source of vast progress and prosperity for the whole Miani Valley. 55 Chio's two canals and their branches rave the state eight hundred miles of navigable waters. The system was finished in 1845. The trie Canal and the Chio Canals drow thousands of

⁵³ Ray Allen Millington, Vestward Expansion, A Fistory of the American Frontier (New York: The Macmillan Company, 1949), p. 333.

Utter, op. cit., p. 317.
55 Glee R. Hancock, Seventy Years of Electricity (Dayton, Chio: The Dayton Power and Light Company, December, 1953), p. 8.

settlers from the East to Chio. 56 Several of these families who were attracted to the West settled near the site of what later became the village of Camben.

One of the early ploneer families of the East was that of Thomas Marray, who was born in 1779 in Ireland. He emigrated in 1806 to Philadelphia. In the same year he came to Proble County and settled in section twenty-eight of Somers Township. Thomas Marray and his wife, Martha Lewellen, had ten children. Three children; John, William, and Sarah A., all made their homes in Somers Township. 57 Sarah A. married Daniel Peters and they were the parents of Martha, Mizabeth, John, and Marray L. Peters. Martha married Thomas Milliams. Sao died in Eaton in February, 1908 at the age of fifty-eight. 58 John and Murray Peters both committed suicide. Thrray, the owner of a men's clothing store in Cambon, took his own life in a Chicago hotel. John took his life in Camden's Fairnount Genetery. Their destis occurred in 1911 within a few sonths of each other. The father, Daniel, died the next year on July 29, 1912 at the age of eighty-seven. During the Civil War, Mr. Murrey had been in the hundred days' service as a negher of the Squirrel Cunters. 59 Elizabeth the daughter, was the last survivor of the Damiol Peters family. Elizabeth married Apel Pierce who was one of Cauden's pioneer bankers, a dector, and a prosperous farmer. "Libu Pierce, as she was called by everyone, became known for her excellent secory, her Atheistic ideas, her fine collection of antiques, and her frugal way of living in spite of her accumulation of great wealth. At the time of her death she lived with her negher, Honer Peters, a son

⁵⁶ Otter, op. cit., p. 62.

⁹⁷ History of Proble County, op. cit., p. 301.

Proble Sounty News, op. cit., February 27, 1908.
Proble Sounty News, op. cit., August 1, 1912.

of Eurray Peters, at Onford, Ondo, who complied with her with and had her body cremated. She passed away on December 28, 1953, after having lived to be one hundred and two years old. All of those years were epent in and near Canden except the last few years in Onford when failing health made it impossible to care for herself.

Squire Marsh, a tailor by trade, left New Jersey and in 1809 settled on what is now Canden. Mistorians have recorded very Little about Squire Marsh and his wife, but a monument erected in memory of the Squire Marsh family, one of the few monuments still standing in the old Canden cemetery on the hill, reveals a little of their history. Squire Marsh died in 1830 and his wife, Metty, died ten years later. According to the monument, Metty Marsh's mother, Mannah Bedell, was burded in 1830 in the old Canden cemetery. Other members of the immediate family of Squire and Metty Marsh, too, are buried in this cemetery. Their names appear on the same monument.

Felix Marsh, who later proved to be one of the ablest lawyers that ever practiced in Proble County, came with his parents, Squire and Netty Marsh, in 1809 to Camien. Felix had been born three years previously in Camien, New Jersey. When he was twenty years old he entered Mami University, Oxford, Chie, where he studied for some time then studied law in Cincinnati. On then in school Felix showed marked aptitude. He especially gave evidence of his oratorical ability, which later made him particularly strong as a trial lawyer. He was admitted to the bar in 183h and started his practice in Baton, Chie. It was there in Hovember, 1836 that he married Rachel Bloomfield, daughter of Mathaniel and Esther Bloomfield. Soon afterwards he was elected prosecuting attorney of

⁶⁰ Lowry, op. cit., p. 19h.
11 Riographical History of Preble County, Chio (Chicago: The Lewis Publishing Company, 1900), p. 551.
12 Preble County News, op. cit., December 17, 1908.

Proble County. He was elected Representative to the General Assembly of Onio in 1848 and from 1856-1858 he was a state Senator. 63 He performed his duties most satisfactorily and he proved to be very acceptable to his constituency. Several bills were passed that were favorable to Camben during his term of office. Mr. Marsh presented the petition of Millian Magano, John H. Boyce, and J. G. McQuinston on February 2, 1849 "asking for a charter for a railroad from a point at or near Hamilton, Chio to the state line between the States of Chic and Indiana, on the best and most eligible route to Richmond, Indiana. "64 The bill, on March 15, 1849, was read for the third time and passed which granted the charter. 65 This was the charter for the railroad that later was built through Canden. Mr. Marsh, on Pehruary 21, 1849, was able to have passed a bill to establish a free turnpiles road from Sugar Valley to Camden. 66 Felix Mersh died in December. 1872 after having practiced low for more than thirty years in Freble County. 67 Felix's will which had been made in Jenuary, 1869 was read after his death. We left one-half of his estate to his wife, Rechel, until her death, or her marriage. The cost was to be equally divided among their four children-Amanda Monora Herdy, wife of Theodore Herdy; Francis Jame March; Pelix M. Marsh; and William R. Marsh.

Felix M. March was born May 15, 1843 in Raton, Obio. He was admitted to the bar in vachington, D. C., after finishing his studies at Miani University, Oxford, Chio. He later moved to Canden where he, too, practiced law

⁶³ W.A. Taylor, Chic Statesmen and Hundred Year Book From 1788 to 1892 Inclusive (Columbus, Chic: The Westbate Company, State Printers, 1892), 250. 356, 36

Journal of the House of Bearesentatives of the State of Chio. 1846-1849, Vol. XIVII (Columbus: S. Medary, Frinters, 1849), p. 288.

<u>Indd</u>., p. 655.

Trebie County News, op. cit., December 17, 1908. Chio), p. 796.

for years. He had five children: Eddie, of Canden; W. A. Harsh of Eaton;
Ada of Canden; Frances of Indianapolis; and Maude of Chicago. When a family
in the community had some member who was not very conventional in his behavior,
Ada Marsh often quoted the following old saying which has much truth in it:
"There are very few fruit trees but what have some rotten fruit on them."
Felix M. Marsh died June 2, 1916 in Canden.

Marsh, is now a part of the town of Canden. The Felix Marsh Addition is one of the main sections of Canden. To most people this part of town is known as Morth Liberty and North Lafayette Streets, but on the early maps it is called Felix Marsh Addition. "The Orchard" is another name commonly used for this same section. Then Felix Marsh gave land to be used as part of the town of Canden, some of it was covered with fruit trees, and that is the part older residents often refer to as "The Orchard."

Samuel Fowler and his wife, Rachel Inman Fowler, came from New Jersey and in 1815 on section twenty-four. They were the parents of Benjamin,
Samuel, Catherine, Rachel, Sarah, Vasti, Matilda, Franklin L., and Francis
Marion. Samuel Fowler became a well-to-do former and at his death he left
a part of his estate to each of his nine children with Benjamin and Catherine
as executors. To Benjamin, the eldest son, left many descendants around
Camben. He and his first wife, Jane Titsworth, who was the granddaughter
of Job Hale, had Four sons; George W., John T., Francis Marion, and James
M., all of whom lived in and near Canden. By his second wife, Catherine
A. Hanger, Benjamin had one son, Scott E. Fowler. All the Fowlers were

from an interview with Jessie B. Roberts, Canden, Chio.

Record of Ville-C", op. cit., p. 232.

prominent and successful business men identified with the commercial interests of the town. The Benjamin lived until 188272 and his second wife, "Aun't Katie", passed away February 23, 1908 in her sleep. The second wife, "Aun't Katie", passed away February 23, 1908 in her sleep.

Another of the pioneer families, the Bealls, came in 1816 from Maryland. Charles Beall, at the age of twenty-two, and his parents, Thomas and Fanny, located in Somers Township. Charles married Sarah Orine and to them were born nine children. One of the sons, Alfred Uriah, became an itinerant Methodist minister for over forty years. He served Canden in 1857 and 1858 and in 1880 he became minister of the Methodist Episcopal Church at Springfield, Chio. 74

John and Mary Mills came from York County, Pennsylvania and in 1818 settled on section mineteen of Comers Township. John Mills was one of the early justices of the peace and was quite a prominent man in the community. The following year Peter Shaefer, a son-in-law of Mills, came from Lancaster Gounty, Pennsylvania and settled close to the Mills family. Mr. Shaefer was a miller by trade and operated various mills around Camden. Among them were the Bruce Mill at Raton, Gasper Potterf's in Gasper Township, Jones' Mill in Somers, the McClung Mill north of Camden, and one built by himself on Seven Mile Greek south of Camden. To A son of Peter Shaefer, John Mills Shaefer, was bern on April 9, 1820, three miles south of Camden. He was one time mayor of Camden, a member of Proble County Bar, and practiced law in Camden many years until his death. At the time of his death, August 16, 1896,

75 Ibid., p. 302.

⁷¹ Proble County Hems, op. cit., September 26, 1907. George Fowler was the father of Arma Fowler Windste, Nen, and Curt Fowler; James was the father of Charles, William, and Marie Fowler; Scott married Jenny Pottenger who helped manage the Woodbine Hotel; Francis was the father of Mi and Eva Fowler; and John T. had one son, Otis.

^{72 &}quot;Record of Wills-E", op. cit., p. 79.
73 Preblo County News, op. cit., February 27, 1908. In 1955 the name of Fowler in Canadan became exhinct but until the first quarter of the 20th century it was very prominent.

⁷⁴ History of Preble County, op. cit., p. 301.

he had five brothers end three sisters living. 76 Amos M. Sheefer, one brother of the attorney, left Canden in the 1870's to engage in a business as a contractor at Liberty, Indiana, where on May 2, 1907 he died. 77

Stephen Payme left New Jersey and first settled in Butler County where he married Sarah Potter. He came to Canden in 1818 about the time the town was laid out as Dover. He went into the business of tavern keeping which he followed for many years. After twenty-two years in Camben he left and four years later he died in Figua. Stephen Payme's three sons, Moses, Daniel, and Jonathan, became residents of Camben and the vicinity.

Moses Payne spent only part of his life in Camden. He was living in Piqua, Ohio in 1841 when his son, Henry H. Payne, was born. After the death of his father, Stephen Payne, in 1844 Moses and his family returned to Canden with his mother, Sarah Payne, Moses left Camden in 1858 and went to live in Illinois where in 1863 he died. The son, Henry H. Payne, remained in Canden and became one of the leading citizens. He engaged in grain and livestock business. It has been said on good authority that he bought and shipped during his life more live stock than any other dealer in Preble County. He was president of the local firm of Payne and Rikenberry Company, dealers in all kinds of grain. Later he personally conducted a live stock, grain, and seed business. He was also a director of the First National Bank. The large spacious house just west of the Town Hall was the Henry Payne home which was the center of many social activities. Mr. Payne died March 12, 1913 at his home on Test Central Avenue. He was survived by his widow, Lucy, and his two daughters, Cora Payne and Mrs. Howard Swope. 78

⁷⁶ Canden Gazette, op. cit., August 20, 1896. 77 Preble County News, May 9, 1907.

⁷⁸ Preble County News, op. cit., March 13, 1913.

Daniel Payne was born in Putler County but came to Gamden in 1839 and remained there until his death t irty-nine years later. During the long term of years he resided in the village he was one of the most valuable citizens it had. It was very commonly remarked that Daniel Payne did more for Camden than any other man who ever resided there. He was a very active, energetic man, and was engaged in many industries, being a tailor, a clock merchant, a teamster, a hotel keeper, and a contractor. At one time he was extensively engaged in buying horses, and driving a stage coach across the country to the scaboard cities. He was one of the first who engaged in the business. He had two daughters, Laura Payne Tucker and Nora Payne Patty. 79

Jonathan Payne, the third son of Stephen and Sarah Payne, returned to Camden at the age of eighteen with his mother in 1844 after his father's death. Four years later he married Hannah Barnet, the daughter of David Barnet. While still a young man, Jonathan was a teamster between Camden and Cincinnati, but later he spent most of the remainder of his life on a farm east of Canden. The Jonathan Paynes had five children. Anna, a daughter, married Rush Bennett, the sen of John Bennett (mentioned earlier) and they had three children, Jessie, Frank, and Azel. Frances Payne married John Gelwick and their sen, Herman, still resides in Canden. Another daughter, Eva, married William Mendemhall. Alice became the wife of Tom Heclain. Their daughter, Myrtle, is a retired teacher and lives in Hamilton, and a sen, Forest, makes his home in New York Gity. Daniel, the only sen of Jonathan Payne, married Minnie Tilson, and their only sen died when still a young man. Jonathan Payne was eighty-five years old when he died en March 14, 1911 at his home on North Liberty Street in Camden.

⁷⁹ History of Proble County, op. cit., p. 307.

Proble County Nown, op. cit., June 25, 1914; March 16, 1911.

Among the early pioneers was the Pierce feedly. Augustine Pierce emigrated from England, his native country, when a young man and satisfied in Pennsylvania. There in 1815 he narried Lois Ladd. They migrated to Camien five years later. He was a compenter, and after they settled he followed that trade in addition to his occupation as a farmer. Augustine Pierce and his wife had two daughters and three sons. Their youngest son, Francis Augustus Pierce, was the ancestor of the Pierces that became known not only in the Garden community but throughout Proble County. Francis Pierce was born March 19, 1825. At the age of twenty-three, on November 2, 1848, he assried Hancy Barnet, a daughter of David and Anna Pottenger Barnet. They had seven sons-Azel, Charles Vermer, Emerson, William Henry, David, Thomas Paine, and James Francis. In youth and early manhood Francis Pierce learned to make and lay bricks. He followed the business of contractor and builder. His latter years were spent in agricultural purcuits. When he died he was one of the largest land owners in Proble County. He owned more than a thousand acros. Francis Pierce died August 26, 1900 at his home two and a half wiles nowth of Camblen. At his death he was survived by his wife, Mancy, and six come; Asel, Charles, and James, all living near Canden; Thomas of Hamilton County; Design of California; and David of Mamilton. The functed was held at the Pierce home. There was no service except the reading of the obituary by Mr. J. E. Morey of Hamilton. The following lines closed his obituary:

"More than the allotted three score years and ten were spun, ere ever the silver cord was loosed, or the golden bowl was broken at the fountain, or the wheal broken at the cistern. And so his existence may be summed up as that of every human creature—born, lived, died." "I

The Pierce homesteed was the first form north of the Roadside Park just north of Canden. Apel Pierce was a doctor (although he practiced very little) and a banker. Jim Pierce lived on the home place. In addition to the regular farming he had a large maple grove and camp. David Pierce was one time Superintendent of Butler County Schools and later became a fine lawyer. Tom Pierce was Superintendent of Schools in Harrison, Chio for over fifty years.

James Parrot and his wife, Amea, came to Canden in 1823. They had left Perusylvania and settled in Briller County in 1803 where they stayed for tmenty years. Jones Barnet was a miller, a weaver, and distiller, and a film mechanic. During the war of 1812 he ame a flour inspector. The James Sarnets had eight children. After the family settled in Camben the name of Barnet was closely associated with the milling industry. In 1831 James Burnet and his sons built a grist mill just at the north edge of town. This mill changed bends several times but was lost known as the Brubaker Will. A son, David, finished a mill in 1835 which had been started earlier just two miles north of Camion. Fifteen years later he built at the same place a fine three story brick structure. The ruine of this grist mill still stand. The road is often referred to as Bernet's Will Road. David Bernet married Ann Pottenger, the daughter of John Pottenger, who was among the very early settlers. 82 David and Arm had eleven children; three of them and their descendants have been mentioned carlier in this paper. David Earnet was one of the most influential cen in this section of the state. He was a large land owner, a termenting trustee, a county countesioner, and a member of the state legislature. 3 He was the instigator in the building of the Hamilton, Zaton, and Richand turnplie and was very influential in the building of the Renditon, Richmond, and Baton Railroad. He served as President of the railroad for mine years, during which time he became widely known in Chio. Ot

Arias Place, his wife, and several children came to Camben in 1825 from Now Ingland. They located in the village where Mr. Place followed the trade

⁶² History of Proble County, op. cit., pp. 303; 310. 63 Taylor, Hundred Year Book, op. cit., p. 369. 64 Proble County News, 62. cit., June 25, 1914.

of shoemaking. Tra H, Place, a grown son, became quite a prominent man locally. He served from 1824 until 1836 as the village's first postanator. Another "first" place was given him when in 1832-1833 he became the first mayor of the town. Again he served as mayor during 1836-1837 and eleven years later, 1818-1819, he served another term.

Robert H. Brown came to the village in 1828 with his parents who were originally from Ireland. Robert married Margaret Wright whose parents were early settlers in Butler County. Then Largaret was very young her father moved from Fennsylvania to southern Chio and bought a farm, now covered by a portion of Cincinnati. Margaret Wright came to Canden with her brotherin-law. Fradbury. Robert Brown and Miss Wright were married in Centerville, Indiana. The wedding journey to Camben was made on horseback. At the wedding dinner one of the meats was a roasted pig with a big red apple in his mouth. Mrs. Brown claimed to have had the first cooking stove in Proble County. When there were no lucifer matches, the fire had to be kept over, borrowed from a neighbor, or struck from a flint. Hr. brown kept the first village store in Camlen, but later sold out and moved on a farm near Canden. 86 Margaret Brown lived in and around Canden until 1883 at which time her husband's death occurred. Then she went to Topeka, Kansas where she lived with her daughter. Then irs. Brown died on October 25, 1900, she was ninetyseven. Her body was returned to Camben whore she rests in Fairmount Cometery. 27 Lucy Brown, the daughter of the Pioneers, Robert and Margaret, married W. A. Johnston who became Chief Justice. They nade their how in Topeka, Konsas. (18

Of Camion Gazette, op. Cit., p. 308; 313.

⁶⁷ Canden Gasette, op. cit., November 1, 1900. Canden Gasette, op. cit., November 29, 1900.

Meanor, widow of Mobert Jones, came to Canden in 1820 with her family from Maryland. She had six children; Alfred, Urish, and Alisabeth Boall, and Mary, Susan, and George Jones. Alfred came earlier, in 1825, with his Uncle Thomas Deall, and Eleanor brought only the three children of her second husband, Robert Jones. In 1838 Sugan married Dr. Lurton Durham who had located in the village six years earlier. He was one of Carden's early and very prominent doctors. He practiced in the village thirty-five years at which time he retired. Two years previously he had taken Dr. J. S. Ferguson as a partner. 89 As soon as the son. George Jones. finished school he went to New Paris. Chic where he learned the hatter's trade from his brother-in-law, Mr. William Reid. Upon completion of his apprenticeship, young Jones returned to Camien to follow his trade. On December 12, 1841 he married Isabel Dickey of Eaton, Chic. Five sons blessed this marriage. One of the sons, Charles Jones, became not only a fine physician but one of Camben's civic leaders. Ir. Charles Jones built a house on North Main Street for his home and his office. In later years this house was known as the Chank house, but in 1953 it was torn down to make room for a new Mobil Gas Station. At the time of his death in 1892 Dr. Jones was the mayor of the village. Left to mourn his passing was the vidow, Lillie Morlatt Jones, and three children, Hanneh, Reynard, and Hell. "O Hell, a resident of Comien, has been mentioned earlier in this paper. In addition to this descendent, Canden has another reminder of the pioneer Jones family. Then Meanor Jones came from Maryland she brought with her in a shoe a lilac bush which is still living. It now stands in the yard of the

<sup>1904.

1904.</sup>Resing Old School House, Proble County News, op. cit., Hay 5,
90 Camdon Gazotte, op. cit., January 23, 1896.

Dr. McKinley here which was formerly the Dr. Lurton Dunham residence. Then the new Dunham house was built, Mrs. Jones dug up the bush from the spot where she had fiftet planted it and transplanted it to her daughter's yard where it still lives and blooms. 51

John Brownen, a cooper by trade, came from Baltimore, Maryland in 1830. 92 A man with such a trade found a welcome among the pioneers who needed barrels and kegs not only in which to store their fruits, vegetables, and meets, but they were the customery containers in stores for such articles as sugar, fish, and crackers. Barrels were also used when all kinds of farm produce was sold and shipped.

Benjamin Formshell and his wife, Lucellia, came to Camben in 1834 from Franklin County, Pennsylvania. They brought with them a family of six children; Villiam, Joseph, Thomas, John, Matilda, and Arabella. Benjamin M., the youngest son, was born in Camben. If. Fernshell was the first timmer in the village and the only one until his son, Denjamin M., went into the same business. If. Fernshell was also a coppermith and the only one in Proble County at that time. He followed his trade actively until he was eighty-two years old. After Mr. Formshell's death in 1879 his will was read. First he requested that all debts and funeral expenses be paid which included tomb stones for him and his deceased wife. To each of his six children (John was deceased) he left one dellar because previous advancements had been made. The rest of his estate was to be divided among his three granichildren; Villiam, son of Joseph; and Ellen and Anna, illegitimate children of his daughter, Arabella Vill. 94

⁹¹ This information came from Well Jones, Cambon, Chic.

History of Preble County, op. cit., p. 308.

Proble County News, op. cit., August 11, 1904.

Mecord of While-Dr, op. cit., p. 501.

Joseph Formsbell, one of Danjamin's sens, lived in Camion seventy years. This was note consecutive years that any citizen had spent in the village up to this date. He knew Camdon when it was but a wilderness. He caw with pride its development into one of the prettiest little towns in Chio. Joseph learned the tinner's trude from his father. He and his father did the tin work in 1853 on the school building which was then being built. Young Fornshell in 1848 married Jeanette Seymour. He was in the patent medicine business in 1868 and 1869 and sold Could's American Liniment. His compound had a large sale, and it gained a widespread reputation. In 1878 the Arlington Motel (now known as Bon Meven) was built and owned by Joseph Fornshell. Hine years later the hotel burned, but he rebuilt it the following year. The Fornshells did not originally intend to go into the hotel business but began by accommodating a few close friends. They soon found the business growing upon them and ended by devoting themselves closely to it. Joseph Fornshell and his wife had two children. The daughter died in infancy, but the son, Fillian S. Formshell, became a prominent citizen of the term. 95 He was editor and publisher of the local paper, the Camdon Casette. He retired from the newspaper business in 1890 and became postmaster under President McKinley's appointment. Then he died in 1912 at the age of sixty-two, his mother, the Joseph Fornshell, was still living. 96

Arabella Fornshell, a daughter of Benjamin, in 1864 married George G. Vill. She died at her home October 23, 1899 on Ngrth Liberty Street. 97
Denjamin M., the youngest child of Denjamin Fornshell, had three children;
Firmer, Effic, and Glen. Clen followed the trade of his father and grandfather.

Proble County News, oo. cit., August 11, 1904.
Proble County News, op. cit., December 5, 1912.
Camden Carette, op. cit., October 26, 1899.

Mars. Lora Shuey, one of Canden's oldest residents, recalls when she was a small child how she helped carry the tin cans during the canning season to Formshell's tin shop to be soldered. Glen Formshell continued in the hardware business until 1943, the year of his death.

Clinton Chadwick, son of Samuel and Jerusha Chadwick, came in 1834 to Canden. Originally he came from Morris County, New Jersey, where in 1818 he was born in Hamilton County. Clinton Chadwick was one of Canden's active and influential citizens. He had a general store on the corner of Main Street and Central Avenue in 1834 which carried on an extensive trade for twenty-eight years. During his last twelve years as a merchant William Pottenger was his partner. 98

Nathamiel Wilbur Carroll arrived in Camden in 1838. He was born in 1813 in Dudley, Massachusetts. Nathamiel married Olivia, the daughter of Thomas and Elizabeth Rees of Dutler County who had come from Delaware in 1827. He was one of the leading citizens of the village and was prominent in many important works. 99 Deginning in 1840 he carried on a clock business and made quite a good sized fortune. Later he invested part of his fortune in Barnet's Mill which he managed for several years. 100 He was a member of the State Board of Education in 1859, and later of the State Board of Public Torks. He also was one of the directors of the Hamilton and Eaton Railroad. After Wr. Carroll's death, which occurred November 18, 1862, Mrs. Carroll remained in Camden. 101 She was along those instrumental in getting the Universalist Church organized in Camden in 1868. It was at

⁹⁸ History of Preble County, op. cit., p. 310.

¹⁰⁰ Proble County News, op. cit., August 18, 1933.
101 History of Freble County, op. cit., p. 309.

the residence of Mrs. Carroll¹⁰² that a meeting was held for their first church organization. Olivia Carroll became one of the first members of the Universalist Church.¹⁰³

J. H. Bohn, born in Pennsylvania in 1803, came from that state to Chio and located in Camden at the age of thirty-nine. He married Henrietta George in Elizabethtown, Pennsylvania and in this town five children were born to them. Here he started a drug store of his own in 1824 which he conducted successfully for four years. At the end of this time he decided to seek his fortune farther west. After having prevailed upon his brother to accompany him, he left his drugstore in competent hands and the two started on horseback to Springfield, Illinois. By the time they reached Terre Haute, Indiana, their impressions of the country toward which they were making their way underwont a complete change, and they abandoned their westward journey. They returned to Elizabethtown where Mr. Bohn resumed his place in the drug store. We sold this store in 1833 and started west again, but he did not have so distant a point in mind. He came to Preble County where he remained until the spring of 1834 with his father-in-law on a farm. He then returned to Elizabethtown and repurchased his drug store and stayed in business eight more years. At that time, 1842, he and his family came to Camlen where he bought property and opened a drug store which he continued to manage until 1875, the year of his death. 104 The large three-story brick building on South Main Street, inscribed with the name "Bohn" at the top, was erected by J. H. Bohn in 1853 to house his drug store. 105 The store continued there after Mr. Bohn's death. The son,

103 History of Preble County, op. cit., p. 306.

¹⁰² Mrs. Cerroll lived on West Central Avenue in the house once known as the Woodbine, but now known as the Donohoe Apertment House.

¹⁰⁴ Lowry, op. cit., pp. 769-790.
105 This building is still ewned by the grandchildren of J. H. L.
Bohn. It is rented by Jeffries' Market. Mrs. Lora Shuey, the granddaughter of J. H. Bohn, recalls the fun she had, when a child, sliding down the long winding banisters in that big building.

John G. L. Bohn, managed the stone for his father's estate for a year then he bought the other heir's interests in 1876 and conducted the popular old store as full owner for more than forty years. After J. H. L. Bohn's death in 1921 the drug store was sold but it remained in the same building until the early part of the thirties at which time it was moved to another location.

Of the five children of John H. and Henrietta Bohn two died at an early age. Caroline lived to be only five years old, but Michael Ceorge died on July 14, 1910 after he was grown. P. J. Bohn, a resident of Camien many pears, was connected with the sale and repair of boots and shoes. John H. I. Polm was highly respected and widely known because of his competent end conscientious services as a pharmacist for so many years. Sarah Rebecca Bohn, a talented musician, married Dr. J. S. Ferguson, a very able physician. 106 He case to Camden in 1865 as a partner with Dr. Lurton Durham. Dr. Ferguson not only served the community as a physician for more than thirty years, but he was active in public affairs until his death. At the time of his death, 1912, the doctor was President of Camden's Loan and Building Association (a position he had held for thirty-one years); a director of the First Mational Bank; and was an active member of the Presbyterian Church. 107 Dr. and Mrs. Ferguson's two children are still living. Their daughter, Lora, married Frank S. Shuey, a young school teacher who later became a leading larger of Freble County. Ers. Thuey still resides in the Ferguson home on Morth Main Street where she and Mr. Shuey made their home until his death in June, 1953. The Ferguson's son, John, is a retired ministen emeritus of the Irvington Presbyterian Church in Indianapolis. 108

¹⁰⁶ Lowry, op. cit., p. 789.

¹⁰⁷ Proble County News, op. cit., October 3, 1912.
108 John Ferguson was installed as minister of the Invincton
Presbytcrian Church, June 26, 1930. To commemorate his twenty-fifth

From Lancaster County, Pennsylvania came Franklin L. Raikes and in 1844 he settled in Somers Township. He was a saddler by trade. He married the only child of William Darby of Washington, the publisher of Darby Geographical Dictionary. Mr. Darby was also surveyor of Louisiana, was a captain in General Jackson's army at New Orleans, and was one time connected with the Treasury Department at Washington. After Franklin Raikes came to Chio he actively engaged in politics in behalf of Henry Clay. He was a strong advocate of the Common school system and was always identified with the interests of the school. Mr. and Mrs. Raikes were the parents of seven children. 109

After Franklin Raikes's father's death in 1823 his mother, Frances
Stiner Raikes, married Moses Whitson who was born in 1790 in Pennsylvania.
The Whitsons left Pennsylvania and in 1847 settled in Camben. They had three children. One of their sons, M. T. Whitson, married Eliza J. Loop, the

anniversary at the church, the following tribute appeared in The Irvington Presbyteria, June 25, 1955:

The man I have in mind is a minister of about seventyfive years of age. He came to our community approximately twentyfive years ago and for more than nineteen years was paster of
one of our churches. He is now paster emeritus. But he continues spreading goodness. He calls upon the sick. He brings
peace unto the dying. He comforts the bereaved. He counsels
those in trouble. He continues to baptize the babies. I speak
with conviction when I say he is the most loved man in our
community.

He calls upon anyone sick or distressed whom he thinks he can help. His visits bring sunshine into hearts all clouded with despair. He always finds something to praise in a person. He is sparing with criticism or blame.

He shares his wordly goods. It is a common thing to see him walking by carrying a gift of food or flowers for some unfortunate person. His greatest gift is the gift of himself. To be with him is a tonic."

¹⁰⁹ History of Proble County, op. cit., p. 304.

daughter of Louis Loop. 110 Eliza Jane Whitson spent her entire life in and near Camien except the last three years of her life which were spent with her daughter in Hamilton. The lived a long life and saw many changes before she died in 1913 at the age of eighty. She was survived by her husband and a daughter, Mrs. Milo Harris, and a son, Charles Thitson of Chicago. 111

Another pioneer from Penns lvania was Jacob Sterzenbach who was born December 9, 1829 in Lancacter County, Pennsylvania. 112 He came to Chio in 1831 with his parents who journeyed westward with a horse and joit wagon. They brought with them some badding and a few hundred dollars which was invested in a home in Somerville, Ohio. The father engaged in manufacturing barrels and other things along that line. Jacob, during his boyhood, worked at the cooper's trade in his father's chop. Later he devoted his time to farming, raising both grain and stock. 113 On April 25, 1850 Jacob Sterzenbach was married to Sexel Frederika Houk who was bern May 17, 1829 in Stuttgart, Cormany. She had come with her parents to Pennsylvania in 1832, but shortly afterward they settled in Somerville. 174 ir. and irs. Jacob Stermenbach lost two children in infancy, but four lived to maturity. Caroline was the wife of Adrian Mettler, a farmer of the Canden community. Samuel married Cora Campbell, and they had three sons, Carl, Louis, and Norman. Margaret married Irvin Reedy of Eaton. Mary Irene (known as "Decaut") married George Pottenger of Gazden. George and "Reengt" Pottenger had one son, Dean, who now lives on Main Street in the house occupied by his

¹¹⁰

County News, op. cit., November 13, 1913.
County News, op. cit., July 28, 1904.

eble County, op. cit., pp. 489-491.

parents when they were living. Dean is a fine musician. He plays both piano and organ, gives piano lessons, and has a very popular dance band.

Jacob Sterzenbach and his wife spent all their married life on a farm southeast of Camlen except for the three years before Mr. Sterzenbach's death. They moved to Canden in 1901 where they purchased property. Mr. Stermenbach apparently was in good health when he dropped dead as he was about to procure some honey from a stand of bees near the house. 115 After her husband's death, Wrs. Stersenbach lived with her daughter and her husband, the George Pottengers, until she succumbed on April 1, 1913 at the are of eighty-three. 116

From Lancaster County, Pennsylvania in 1847 came another prominent family, the Neffs. Klizabeth Herr was born on December 15, 1813 in Lancaster County, Pennsylvania. She married Daniel Neff on August 26, 1834 the was from the same state. They were the perents of nine children. The first seven were born in Lancaster County: Suzan Ann, Sarah, John Wesley, Amanda, Adam Clark, Salome, and Mertha. Two more boys were born in Preble County. Chio: Daniel Webster and Henry Clay. Sarah died in infancy on ... August 21, 1837 and Martha died on March 6, 1864 when she was only seventeen years old. If Four of the Weff children spent most of their life in and around Canden. Assanda married Orlando Vilson, the son of Villian Vilson, Jr. They lived most of Weir life on a farm east of Camden, then later retired and moved to town. Adam Clark had a grocery store and bakery in the village for many years. Daniel Vebster was a well known buckster. John Vesley marrised Buth Wilson, a sister of Orlando Wilson. They were the parents of two soms,

Proble County News, op. cit., July 28, 1904.

Proble County News, op. cit., April 10, 1913.

Reff Family Rible (This Bible is at the home of Ruth Neff Petree, 21 Forestdale Fk., Calumet City, Illinois).

Will and Fred. John Wesley and his wife left Camden in 1896 to accept a position in the U. S. Treasury Department of Washington D. C. 118 Upon retirement, he and Mrs. Weff returned to Canden. After his wife's death he made his home with his son, Fred, and family. Two of Fred's sons, Harry and Jim, reside in Camden; another son, Cecil, lives in Eaton; and the two daughters, Helen Schomaker and Ruth Petree, have their homes in Calumet City, Illinois.

Another of the pioneer families which has left many descendants was the Kennedy family. David Kennedy, a typical pioneer, came from New Jersey and in 1796 settled in Cincinnati. He owned the first ferry boat which crossed the Chio River at Cincinnati. Then an accident befell his boat in 1855 he was drowned. 119 Benjamin P. Kennedy, a son of David, was born on November 24, 1813 near Pleasant Ridge, Hamilton County, Ohio. He married Ann Baxter on February 12, 1835. They had six children but one died in infancy. His wife died in 1849 leaving him the care of the small children. The following year he married a widow, Mrs. Sarah Frazee White, who had two small children, Lydia and James. The Kennedy's moved to Freble County in the early 1850's and located on a farm at the edge of Ganden. Denjamin became a very successful farmer and financier. At the time of his death, August 18, 1896, he was nearly eighty-three years of age. 120 Jane Kennedy, the oldest daughter, married John Pottenger. 121 Andrew J. (known as Jack) on October 23, 1863 married Sarah Missboth Fragee. He died in Camden on July 6, 1900 at the age of dirty-three. 122 Wilson, on November 17, 1864, married Anna Frazee, a cister of Sarah. They had four children, 123 Martha Monnedy, who was only two years old when her nother died, never narried.

¹¹⁸ Camden Gazette, op. cit., November 26, 1896.

119 History of Proble County, op. cit., p. 302.

120 Camden Gazette, op. cit., August 20, 1896; August 27, 1896.

121 Proble County News, op. cit., October 3, 1912.

122 Canden Gazette, op. cit., July 12, 1900.

Preble County News, op. cit., April 1, 1915.

In her later life she made her home, until her death in November, 1903, with her nephow, John White. 124 Fliza Kennedy, the third daughter, married James Thite who was her step-brother but no blood relation. They had eight children: Nell, Addie, Charles, John, Sarah, Martha, Frank, and Grace. 125 The last child died when only seven months old.

Only one of James Thite's children, Frank, is still living, but there are many of his descendants living in or near Canden. Nell, the oldest child, married Charles McFall to whom were born two sons. Ralph McFall is the owner and operator of a fine furniture store in Eaton, Ohio, and John and his wife live in Florida. Addie, the second daughter, married Frank Eikenberry who for many years was owner of the Fikenberry Furniture Store in Camden. They had no children. Charles, the oldest son, married Tura Ridenour from College Corner. For many years they were merchants in a well stocked department store on the corner of Main and Central Avenue. They had two daughters, Cenevieve and Mary Elizabeth. Genevieve has been a teacher in the Camden Schools for the lest twenty-five years. Mary Misabeth married Dr. Richard Miller of Lima, Ohio, but the Millers now reside in Paden City, West Virginia. John, the second son, morried Blanche Miles. They had a son and two daughters. Kenneth, the oldest child of John White, is a draftsmen at Gwynne's in Camden. Jeanette married Chester Hum of Millersburg, Chio. Irene died in infancy. Sarah, the fifth child of the White family, never married. She spent most of her life close to Camden with the exception of a few years she worked in Tlder's at Dayton, until her death in 1951. Martha, the sixth in the James White family, became the wife of Fred Weff of Camden.

¹²h Proble County Rews, op. cit., November 12, 1903.
125 Cammion Gazette, op. cit., July 11, 1901.

They had five children; Cecil, Ruth, Harry, Helen, and James, all of whom have been mentioned in connection with the Neff descendants. Frank, the youngest son of the Thites, married Anna Homsher, the daughter of Dr. G. W. Homsher. 126 They live on North Main Street where they raise flowers for cut bouquets. Mr. and Mrs. Unite both have been closely associated with the Presbyterian Church where they have always taken a very active part, especially with the music.

Camden was very fortunate in 1854 to have a fine tailor, Jacob Collet, come to the village. Mr. Collett was born in Cornary in 1834 and came to this country at the age of fourteen. He located in Cincinnati where he learned the art of coat making. When he was twenty years old he left Cincinnati and located in Camden. During the next ten years he was employed as a tailor with Amos Yost, Clint Chadwick, and Benjamin Myers. He started a business of his own on Main Street in 1864 in the S. F. Shellenbarger property. Four years later his business had gown to such propertions that he erected the building now known as the Duckwall property. These

Robert Homsher. Robert Homsher came to Camien in 1852 and started practicing medicine in the village. He was a deeply religious man and served the Camden Presbyterian Church as Elder for thirty-four years. He has been remembered as a very prominent physician. Then Lillie Morlett Jones was a young girl Dr. Homsher was the family physician for the Morletts. Nell Jones has heard her mother, Milie, say that "so great was the faith in Dr. Homsher that she believed her family thought he could almost raise the dead."

Dr. C. W. Homsher, like his father, was also a prominent doctor and citizen of Canden. He maintained a keen interest in public affairs throughout his life. He served on the Board of Education for many years. At the time of his death, 1926, he had been president of the Camben Loan and Building Association for fourteen years in addition to the several years he had been one of the directors. He organized the Proble County Health Department and in January, 1920 he became the first Health Commissioner for the county. This office he held until his death.

This information came from Mrs. Frank White, North Main Street, Camien, Chio, June 25, 1955.

¹²⁷ This property is located on the west side of Main Street and it's occupied by Evelyn's Beauty Parlor and Statzer's Realty Office.

quarters were soon insdequate and in 1882 he erected the building on South Main Street which is still known as the Collet Building. Mr. Collet's son, Jacob, learned the tailoring trade and in 1890 the firm became known as J. Collet and Son. More than one hundred years after Mr. Collet, the ploneer, came to Gandon, a very fine men's clothing store is still owned and operated by his only grandson, Burdette Collet. This store has never been out of the Collet family since it started. 128

The ploneers of the Canden area had courage and vision to plan and build for the future. They laid the foundations which made possible the many privileges and opportunities that future generations enjoyed. This same pioneering spirit is still evidenced in the way some people are meeting the problems of the present day.

¹²⁸ Preble County News, op. cit., April 9, 1914.